

# Oconee County Board of Zoning Appeals Rules of Procedure

## Article I Organization

### Section 1. Rules

These rules of procedure are adopted pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790 for the Oconee County Board of Zoning Appeals which consists of seven (7) members appointed by the Oconee County Council.

### Section 2. Officers

The officers of the Board shall be a chairman and vice-chairman for one (1) year terms at the first meeting of the Board in each calendar year. The Board shall appoint a member of the staff of the Oconee County Community Development Department as secretary of the Board.

### Section 3. Chairman

The chairman shall be a voting member of the Board and shall:

- a. Call meetings of the Board;
- b. Preside at meetings and hearings; and swear in witnesses;
- c. Act as spokesperson for the Board;
- d. Sign documents for the Board;
- e. Have orders of the Board served on parties; and
- f. Perform other duties approved by the Board.

### Section 4. Vice-Chairman

The vice-chairman shall exercise the duties of the chairman in the absence, disability, or disqualification of the chairman. In the absence of the chairman and vice-chairman, an acting chairman shall be elected by the members present.

### Section 5. Secretary

The secretary shall:

- a. Provide and publish notice of appeals and meetings;
- b. Assist the chairman in preparation of agenda;
- c. See that property involved in appeals for variances or special exceptions is properly posted;

- d. Keep recordings and minutes of meetings and hearings;
- e. Maintain Board records as public records;
- f. Serve Board decisions on parties;
- g. Attend to Board correspondence; and
- h. Perform other duties normally carried out by a secretary.

## **Article II Meetings**

### **Section 1. Time and Place**

An annual schedule of regular meetings shall be adopted, published and posted at the Oconee County Planning Department office in December of each year. Special meetings may be called by the chairman upon twenty four (24) hours notice, posted and delivered to all members and local news media. Meetings shall be held at the place stated in the notices, and shall be open to the public.

### **Section 2. Agenda**

A written agenda shall be furnished by the secretary to each member of the Board and the news media, and shall be posted at least five (5) days prior to each regular meeting, and at least twenty four (24) hours prior to a special meeting. Items may be removed from the agenda or postponed at a meeting by majority vote.

### **Section 3. Quorum**

A majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. A quorum shall be present before any business is conducted other than rescheduling the meeting.

### **Section 4. Rules of Order**

Robert's Rules of Order shall govern the conduct of meetings except as otherwise provided by these Rules of Procedure.

### **Section 5. Attendance**

Members shall make every reasonable effort to attend all Board meetings. In the event that a member is absent from more than one third (1/3) of the regularly scheduled meetings within any one-year period, or is absent from more than 3 consecutive meetings, the Secretary shall inform the Chairman of the attendance record. If the Chairman deems the member's chronic absences unjustified, or does not find sufficient evidence that the member's attendance will improve, the Board shall, upon a simple majority vote, recommend the member's removal by the County Council.

## **Article III Appeals Procedure**

### **Section 1. Form of Appeal**

Appeals from administrative decisions, applications for variances, and applications for special exceptions shall be filed on forms approved by the Board and provided to applicants by the secretary. The Board may require additional information deemed necessary. The failure to submit adequate information may be grounds for dismissal. An application filed by an agent shall be accompanied by written designation of the agent signed by the applicant or party in interest.

### **Section 2. Time for Appeal**

An appeal from an administrative decision must be filed within fifteen (15) days after actual notice of the decision by delivery of the approved appeal form to the secretary of the Board who shall notify the official appealed from.

### **Section 3. Calendar**

Appeals and applications shall be marked with the date of receipt and placed on the hearing calendar in the order in which received. Appeals shall be heard in the order on the calendar unless otherwise set by the Board for good cause shown.

### **Section 4. Withdrawal of Appeal**

Any appeal or application may be withdrawn by written notice delivered to the secretary prior to action by the Board. An appeal from an administrative decision which is withdrawn may not be refilled after the fifteen (15) day time for appeal has expired. Withdrawn applications for variances and special exceptions may be re-filed after six (6) months and shall be placed on the calendar according to the date re-filed.

### **Section 5. Continuances**

The hearing of an appeal or application may be continued one time by the Board for good cause shown. Should an applicant request that the hearing date be rescheduled, said request shall be made by written notice, which shall state the reasons for the request to reschedule, delivered to the secretary 72 hours prior to action by the Board.

Also, the applicant shall make said request to reschedule in person before the Board.

Any deviation from the procedures contained within this section can only be approved by a majority vote at a meeting.

**Section 6. Notice**

Public notice of a hearing of the Board shall be published in a local newspaper and posted on or adjacent to the property affected at least fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing. The notice shall contain a description of each matter to be heard and identify the applicant and property affected.

**Article IV  
Hearing Procedure**

**Section 1. Appearances**

The applicant or any party in interest may appear in person or by agent or attorney. The Board may postpone or proceed to dispose of a matter on the records before it in the absence of an appearance on behalf of an applicant.

**Section 2. Witnesses**

Parties in interest may present testimony under oath. Witnesses may be compelled to attend by subpoena requested at least ten (10) days prior to a hearing and signed by the chairman. The Board may call its own witnesses when deemed appropriate.

**Section 3. Cross-examination**

No party shall have the right to cross-examine witnesses; however, the opportunity to examine opposing witnesses may be freely extended when conducted in an orderly manner. Intimidation of witnesses will not be allowed.

**Section 4. Evidence**

Relevant documents, photographs, maps, plans, drawings, etc., will be received in the record without authentication in the form of legible copies. Relevant testimony which is not cumulative or hearsay will be received. The chairman will rule on all evidentiary matters. Evidence may be placed in the record with an objection noted.

**Section 5. Conduct of Hearing**

The normal order of hearing, subject to modification by the chairman, shall be:

- a. Statement of matter to be heard (chairman or secretary);
- b. Presentation by applicant (5-minute limit);
- c. Presentation by official appealed (5-minute limit);
- d. Presentation by opponents (5-minute limit);
- e. Rebuttal by applicant (3-minute limit);

- f. Unsworn public comment when appropriate;
- g. The Board may question participants at any point in the hearing;
- h. Matters in which additional time is granted may be moved to the end of the agenda.

## **Section 6. Disposition**

The Board may deliberate and make a final disposition of a matter by majority vote of members present at the hearing and qualified to vote; provided that not less than a quorum are qualified to vote. The vote may be taken at the same or a subsequent meeting. A member may not vote on a matter which the member has not heard. Deliberations shall be conducted and voting shall be in public.

## **Section 7. Form of Order**

An order shall be issued disposing of a matter by granting or denying relief with such conditions may be deemed necessary; or affirming, modifying, or reversing an administrative decision. A matter may be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction or prosecution. Findings of fact and conclusions of law shall be separately stated in an order.

## **Section 8. Service of Order**

The secretary shall deliver a copy of an order to each party in interest by certified mail immediately upon execution of the order by the chairman.

## **Section 9. Rehearing**

The Board may grant a rehearing of an application which has been dismissed or denied upon written request filed with the secretary within fifteen (15) days after delivery of the order accompanied by new evidence which could not reasonably have been presented at the hearing, or evidence of a clerical error or mutual mistake of fact affecting the outcome.

## **Section 10. Voting Procedure**

The following shall be the normal procedure for conducting votes on Special Exceptions to the Oconee County Unified Performance Standards Ordinance.

1. Following the conclusion of the presentation of evidence and the Board's discussion, the Chairman shall call for further questions or comments from the Board regarding the matter at hand. Hearing none, the Chairman shall order the vote to proceed.
2. There shall be separate votes clearly delineating the evidence-based conclusions of each Board member based on the following guidelines:

- A. Based on the evidence presented to the Board, the proposed Special Exception does or does not meet the standards put forth in the Oconee County Unified Performance Standards Ordinance.
  - B. Based on the evidence presented to the Board, the proposed Special Exception is or is not compatible with current and known planned land uses in the district, and will or will not substantially diminish the value of adjacent property of property in the district.
  - C. Based on the evidence presented to the Board, the proposed Special Exception will or will not have a positive impact upon the general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Oconee County.
3. Following the statement of the Board’s conclusions, the Chairman shall call for a vote approving or denying the proposed Special Exception.
  4. The Board may, by simple majority vote, modify any of the guidelines and/or attach conditions to the approval of any Special Exception.

Except as otherwise provided by this section of the Rules of Procedure, all votes shall meet the standards put forth by Robert’s Rules of Order.

**Section 11. Equal Consideration**

The Board shall make every effort to afford equal treatment to all appearing before it. Board members shall accord each person appearing before it, as well as other Board members, with all due respect. It shall be the standard to address all males with the title “Mr.”, and all females with the title “Ms.”. All evidence presented to the Board shall be given due consideration when weighing conclusions.

**Article V  
Ethical Conduct**

**Section 1. Conflict of Interest**

All Board members shall at the earliest opportunity notify the Chairman of any conflict of interest regarding any issue to come before the Board. Any member with a conflict of interest shall seek abstention or recusal from all matters regarding the issue. An abstaining member shall not be required to leave his/her seat during the vote. Abstention by a member in one matter shall not limit said member’s full participation in other Board matters.

**Section 2. Ex Parte Contact**

Any ex parte contacts with applicants, opponents, or other parties of interest in a matter to come before the Board shall be reported at the earliest opportunity to the Chairman. It shall be considered to the duty of each Board member to conduct himself/herself in a manner that will discourage such contact.

**Section 3. Expressions of Bias**

Members shall avoid all situations and circumstances that may lead to bias or prejudice in matters presented to the Board. No member shall offer expressions of individual opinion regarding any matter of consideration by the Board prior to the hearing.

**Section 4. Violation of Ethical Standards**

Violation of any of the ethical standards put forth in Article 5 shall be considered cause for removal from the Board. In the event that a member is found to have violated any of the stated ethical standards, the remaining members of the Board shall, subject to a simple majority vote, recommend the removal of the aforementioned member to the County Council.

**Article VI  
Records**

**Section 1. Minutes**

The secretary shall record all meetings and hearings of the Board on tape which shall be preserved until final action is taken on all matters presented. The secretary shall prepare minutes of each meeting for approval by the Board the next regular meeting. Minutes shall be maintained as public records.

**Section 2. Orders and Documents**

The secretary shall assist in the preparation and service of all orders of the Board in appropriate form. Copies of all notices, correspondence, documentary evidence, orders and forms shall be maintained as public records.

**Article VII  
Adoption and Amendment**

**Section 1. Adoption**

These rules were adopted by vote of a majority of the members of the Board at a regular public meeting on September 14, 2000, and amended on June 14, 2001.

**Section 2. Amendment**

These rules may be amended at any regular meeting of the Board by majority vote of the members of the Board at least seven (7) days after the written amendment is delivered to all members.

